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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I want to thank

          3  those who were involved in putting this hearing

          4  together.  Tom Perry to my right, the Legal Counsel;

          5  to my left, Joan Povolony, the Policy Analyst; I'd

          6  like to thank Daniel Surriago, the Financial

          7  Analyst; Steve Adenesio (phonetic), my Legislative

          8  Aide.  I thank the Sergeant-at-Arms for being here

          9  today for making everything run smoothly.  And

         10  again, I welcome you all here today.

         11                 Today, we're doing a very important

         12  hearing on the future of the Social Security system.

         13                 We will be holding an oversight

         14  hearing on Res. 832A, a resolution calling upon the

         15  Bush Administration to abandon its effort to

         16  dismantle the current Social Security System.

         17                 In 1935, President Franklin Delanor

         18  Roosevelt enacted the Social Security Act, to assist

         19  Americans and their families in difficult times such

         20  as unemployment, death, disability, and old age.

         21                 The Act has been regarded as one of

         22  the most successful domestic social and economic

         23  programs in our nation's history.  American workers

         24  look to Social Security as a promise that our Nation

         25  has made to them and their families.
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          2                 Today, thirty years later, Social

          3  Security Act, President Bush has made a proposal to

          4  dismantle the current Social Security System, and in

          5  the eyes of Reso. 832A, break the country's promise

          6  to its workers.

          7                 The President's proposal would

          8  privatize Social Security through a system of

          9  individual retirement accounts, which would allow

         10  individuals to invest a portion of their Social

         11  Security contributions into diversified Index funds.

         12    These accounts will be dependent upon the

         13  fluctuation of the Stock Market.

         14                 In addition to the proposed

         15  individual accounts, President Bush also proposed a

         16  progressive price indexing, which, under this

         17  proposal, a worker currently earning about $36,000

         18  and retiring in the year 2055, would face a 21

         19  percent reduction in their benefits.  And someone

         20  earning $59,000, a 31 percent cut.

         21                 These cuts would also affect lower

         22  and middle- class workers more, because they are

         23  likely to rely more on the Social Security System

         24  than the higher wage earners.

         25                 It is also been noted that President
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          2  Bush's plan does not include any reforms to

          3  strengthen the current Social Security System.

          4  According to reports by the Social Security

          5  trustees, and the Congressional Budget Office, if no

          6  changes were made to the current Social Security

          7  System, it would pay full benefits for the next 37

          8  to 47 years.

          9                 One thing that is certain, is that

         10  many American workers are concerned and confused by

         11  the future of the Social Security System.  And by

         12  the President's proposals.  The Social Security

         13  System is meant to be a safety net, not a risk for

         14  retired workers.  And today's working families

         15  deserve the guarantee that the Social Security

         16  System will be there for them in the future.

         17                 Today's hearing will address many of

         18  these issues raised by workers and advocates.

         19                 And again, I appreciate you all being

         20  here today of this very important issue, not only

         21  for the future, but also of today.

         22                 I will introduce my colleagues as

         23  they come here. We are awaiting a number of

         24  colleagues who will want to make statements on this

         25  issue.  In the mean time, I'm going to call up the
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          2  first panel of witnesses to give testimony.  Now,

          3  because we have a number of witnesses, and we want

          4  to hear all of them, we're going to limit the

          5  testimony to three minutes per witness who takes the

          6  stand.  That will allow us time for questions and

          7  answers as well.

          8                 So I'm going to call up the first

          9  panel for the panel for the Committee.  Raquel

         10  Romanick from the Manhattan Borough President's

         11  Office, if you would please step forward. Miriam

         12  Balmuth, from JPAC.  Miriam please step forward.

         13  Suzanne M. Forman, from JPAC as well.  And Molly

         14  Krakowski, from JPAC.

         15                 I want to thank this panel for being

         16  here today. I'm going to please ask that you state

         17  your name, your affiliation, and give your

         18  testimony.

         19                 MS. ROMANICK: Good afternoon.  My

         20  name is Rachel Romanick, and I am here to present

         21  testimony on behalf of the Manhattan Borough

         22  President, C. Virginia Fields, on the importance of

         23  protecting the current Social Security System.

         24                 First, on behalf of the Borough

         25  President, I would like to thank Council Member
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          2  Addabbo and the Civil and Labor Committee for

          3  arranging this hearing today, and for the

          4  opportunity to testify before you.

          5                 Social Security is one of the most

          6  successful social programs of the 20th century.  It

          7  is not merely a retirement program, but a broad

          8  social insurance program that protects some of our

          9  City, State and Nation's most vulnerable citizens.

         10  Social Security provides a safety net for all

         11  citizens across a life span. In addition to

         12  providing older adults with a minimum guaranteed

         13  income, it provides the equivalent of a $400,000

         14  life insurance policy and a $350,000 disability

         15  insurance policy for a young worker and family.

         16  These funds are essential to helping families

         17  survive.

         18                 If we listen to the publicity

         19  surrounding the President's recent proposal to

         20  revamp Social Security, we are made to believe that

         21  this important backbone of our society is in crisis.

         22    And in need of immediate and drastic measures.

         23  But I do not see sufficient evidence of an existing

         24  crisis.

         25                 According to Social Security's own
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          2  trustees, as well as the Congressional Budget

          3  Office, Social Security is currently able to pay all

          4  promised benefits in full for the next 40 to 50

          5  years, and 70 to 80 percent of promised benefits

          6  after that.              Obviously, not being able

          7  to meet all promised benefits for future generations

          8  is problematic.  No one would deny that.  But I

          9  would hardly call this a crisis.  Government at all

         10  levels must sit down together and have a frank and

         11  meaningful discussion on the long- term solvency of

         12  this program.  And take steps to insure its long-

         13  term viability.

         14                 But is this a crisis warranting the

         15  immediate dismantling of such an important program?

         16  I think not.  The estimated size of the shortfall is

         17  significant, but not unmanageable.  Estimates put

         18  the size of the shortfall at roughly the same size

         19  as making the President's tax cuts for the richest

         20  one percent of the population, those making $300,000

         21  a year, permanent.

         22                 The President's plan to move towards

         23  the system of private accounts does nothing to close

         24  the future gap in Social Security funding.  In fact,

         25  it is estimated that to make the trust fund run
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          2  short eleven years earlier than if we did nothing.

          3  To solve this, the President is proposing massive

          4  borrowing and steep cuts in benefits for retirees,

          5  widows, children, and the disabled.

          6                 Reckless borrowing will put the long-

          7  term financial health of this country in jeopardy.

          8  And burden future generations.               In

          9  addition, all evidence is showing countries such as

         10  Chile, who have moved to a system of private

         11  accounts, are finding it to be a failed experiment.

         12  And institutions that originally endorsed the idea,

         13  including the World Bank, are moving away from such

         14  support.

         15                 The Social Security program is of

         16  particular importance to women.  A fact that the

         17  plan towards privatization ignores.  Nearly two-

         18  thirds of women in this country over the age of

         19  sixty five, get a majority of their income from

         20  Social Security.

         21                 Furthermore, 98 percent of the 14

         22  million spouses and surviving spouses collecting

         23  benefits are women.  Women are more likely to have

         24  taken time out of work for family responsibilities,

         25  and still earn less than men.  Women are also less
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          2  likely to have private pensions, and when they do,

          3  they average half the amount of men's.  This means

          4  women rely heavily on Social Security.  And will be

          5  most vulnerable to poverty if the President's plan

          6  moves forward.

          7                 Social Security is too important to

          8  allow it to be dismantled, cut, and left in the

          9  hands of a volatile Stock Market.

         10  Instead of irrational calls for crisis, we need to

         11  begin to have common sense and fact- based

         12  discussion, and examine all our choices to promote

         13  solvency.  Rational discussion will no doubt bring

         14  up hard choices.  But if we approach the table with

         15  a common goal of protecting this National treasure,

         16  I know we can protect and strengthen the existing

         17  system.

         18                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         19  testify before you. I'd be happy to take any

         20  questions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you. What

         22  we're going to do, is we're going to go through the

         23  panel, and then we'll have questions.

         24                 At this point I do want to

         25  acknowledge the presence here of Council Member and
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          2  a good colleague of mine, and the sponsor of this

          3  bill, Council Member Letitia James.

          4                 MS. BALMUTH: Good afternoon.  My name

          5  is Miriam Balmuth.  I'm a JPAC member, and a Social

          6  Security recipient.  From my experience, and that of

          7  the many people I know who receive Social Security

          8  checks, the current system works excellently.  I'm

          9  very concerned about the plans that the U.S.

         10  President has for this very important social

         11  insurance program.

         12                 I applaud the New York City Council

         13  for recognizing the devastating proposals to

         14  privatize Social Security and for sounding strong in

         15  opposition to any such efforts to dismantle it.

         16                 Social Security is not in crisis.  It

         17  is one of the most well- run programs of our Federal

         18  Government.  Sending out 47 million checks each

         19  month, and keeping administration costs down to less

         20  than one percent.

         21                 It is not only a retirees program, in

         22  fact, one in three recipients is under 65 years old.

         23    In addition to the current beneficiaries, over 154

         24  million workers and their families are covered by

         25  the insurance provided through their contributions.
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          2                 Social Security works.  It can

          3  continue to respond to changing demographics and

          4  continue to provide inflation protected benefits to

          5  future generations, their spouses, disabled family

          6  members, and surviving children.

          7                 The plan to divert Social Security

          8  funds into private "personal accounts" is risky and

          9  costly.  If people are interested in taking personal

         10  risks, they are free to use 401K plans and IRAs to

         11  play with their money.

         12                 The President, in his recent address

         13  to the American people, claimed that people with

         14  disabilities and survivors will not lose out on

         15  their benefits.  But there has been no clear cut

         16  plan spelled out.  How can the Administration

         17  promise no benefit cuts when they propose to divert

         18  two- thirds of the employee- paid Social Security

         19  tax away from Social Security and into private

         20  accounts?

         21                 Social Security is not in crisis.

         22  But it will be if it is privatized.  Or if the

         23  formulary for configuring benefits is changed from

         24  wage indexing to price indexing. Personal accounts

         25  and price indexing will not fix any solvency
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          2  problems that we may face in 2042 or 2052 if at all.

          3

          4                 I feel that what the President is

          5  proposing will result in the ultimate destruction of

          6  Social Security as we know it.

          7                 One of the most beautiful aspects of

          8  the current program is that everyone who pays into

          9  the program benefits.  It is a fair program.

         10  Perhaps the most upsetting aspect of the

         11  privatization plans is the divisiveness that will

         12  result from creating different plans for different

         13  income brackets.  Means testing the program.

         14                 For 70 years, the Social Security

         15  program has protected Americans against the loss of

         16  income due to retirement, death, or disability.  It

         17  is our duty to protect this important American

         18  safety net for our generation, and generations to

         19  come.

         20                 MS. KRAKOWSKI: Good afternoon.  My

         21  name is Molly Krakowski and I'm the Director of the

         22  Joint Public Affairs Committee for Older Adults, the

         23  advocacy arm of the Jewish Association for Services

         24  for the Aged.

         25                 On behalf of our members, I would
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          2  like to thank the New York City Council and the

          3  Civil Service and Labor Committee for inviting the

          4  public to speak out on a very important subject of

          5  Social Security.  And for drafting an excellent

          6  resolution in 832A.

          7                 JPAC and JASA together represent over

          8  50,000 older adults throughout the metropolitan

          9  area.  The people we serve come from all different

         10  ethnic, financial, educational, and social

         11  backgrounds.  They are able- bodied older people.

         12  They are activist, victims, adults, adults in need

         13  of guardianship, and the mentally ill.

         14                 One common thread that unites many of

         15  our clients is their reliance on Social Security to

         16  pay for their basic living. For many of our clients

         17  and members, Social Security is their only source of

         18  income.  For some, it's supplements a small

         19  retirement savings.

         20                 In a city like New York, the dollar

         21  only goes so far.  Rising costs in housing, health

         22  premiums, prescription drugs, and transportation

         23  contribute to the difficulties facing this

         24  population.

         25                 In an effort to capture the faces of
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          2  Social Security recipients, JPAC has circulated a

          3  flyer asking for personal stories about what the

          4  Social Security check has meant to our members.  We

          5  have received a steady flow of stories reflecting

          6  the diversity of the people who are helped by the

          7  program, and I'd like to take a moment to share a

          8  few of those stories with you today.

          9                  "I am a retiree, 78 years of age,

         10  with a monthly Social Security check of $775, and a

         11  small pension of $274 per month.  Together with my

         12  interests from bank accounts, I manage to get along.

         13    Social Security has made it possible for me to

         14  avoid poverty. Social Security is essential to my

         15  daily living.  Any changes that reduce my Social

         16  Security benefits will be harmful to my daily

         17  existence".

         18                 A 75 year old wrote, "I lost my

         19  husband to cancer, who was 47 years old, leaving me

         20  a 45- year old widow with an 11 year old son.

         21  Luckily, I was a working mother who was able to take

         22  care of the basic maintenance bills.  But the Social

         23  Security which my son received enabled me to keep

         24  him in Parochial School, and to open a savings

         25  account which came in handy when he started college.
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          2  My daughter also lost her husband, also to cancer,

          3  leaving her with two children under the age of 18.

          4                 I get very upset when I hear the

          5  President state that Social Security does not help

          6  Black people, because the die younger and don't

          7  retire on their Social Security.

          8                 There is no way that private accounts

          9  would have provided the funds for our children the

         10  way that Social Security does".

         11                 These stories represent only a few of

         12  the 47 million recipients out there.  Social

         13  Security is the single largest source of retirement

         14  income.  Two- thirds of Social Security

         15  beneficiaries receive more than half their income

         16  from Social Security.  What's more, 20 percent of

         17  retirees Social Security is their only source of

         18  income.  Without Social Security, nearly half the

         19  elderly population would live in poverty.

         20                 Social Security is providing

         21  Americans with a secure retirement for over 70

         22  years.  We need to strengthen this program so that

         23  it will continue to be there for generations to

         24  come.

         25                 MS. FORMAN: Good afternoon.  My name
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          2  is Suzanne Forman.  I am a current student in JPAC

          3  Institute for Senior Action and a Social Security

          4  recipient.

          5                 I am absolutely opposed to any

          6  privatization or personalization of the Social

          7  Security System.  This is not the first time that

          8  the solvency of Social Security has been called into

          9  question.  In the 70 years since the program was

         10  created, predictions have been made, and questions

         11  raised about if we'll have enough money to pay our

         12  people.  Luckily, our government has made some

         13  necessary adjustments along the way to ensure that

         14  the checks keep going out to beneficiaries without

         15  fail.

         16                 It is due to that planning that we

         17  currently have a Social Security Trust Fund Reserve,

         18  that totals $1.7 trillion and will rise to $6

         19  million by 2030.  According to the Congressional

         20  Budget Office, actuaries predict that payroll tax

         21  receipts and reserves are sufficient to pay full

         22  benefits for the next four decades, approximately,

         23  until 2041, or 2052, depending on how pessimistic

         24  your view.

         25                 After this point, there will still be
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          2  enough to pay three- quarters of the promised

          3  benefits.  This is without making any changes at

          4  all.

          5                 The President is trying to gain

          6  support for privatization by convincing younger wage

          7  earners to move a portion of their payroll taxes out

          8  of Social Security and into personal accounts.  The

          9  fine print tells a different story.  These personal

         10  accounts would not actually be under personal

         11  control.  But would be managed by Federally-

         12  selected, private investment firms. Financial

         13  experts predict that these accounts would require

         14  enormous administrative costs.

         15                 At retirement, the Social Security

         16  benefits would be reduced by the full amount put

         17  into this personal account, plus three percent

         18  annual interest.

         19                 This is on top of other proposed

         20  benefit cuts. After that, the contributor would be

         21  required to use money in this account to buy a

         22  lifetime annuity to insure that they receive at

         23  least poverty- level income, since they will have

         24  done away with the traditional Social Security.

         25                 Only the amount that remains, if any,
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          2  meeting the living cost of old age would be able to

          3  be left to an heir.  If you earn less than three

          4  percent, or if you retire in a bad Stock Market

          5  year, or, exhaust the private accounts, that is it.

          6  No more money.

          7                 I am concerned about the future of

          8  Social Security. I do want to know where the money

          9  is going to come from in order to pay our future

         10  beneficiaries, including, to my own children, and my

         11  own grandchildren.

         12                 But there is time to make these

         13  decisions and a number of different ways to meet any

         14  future shortfall if it arises. There should be no

         15  rush to cut benefits and plan a risky and expensive

         16  privatization scheme, which will do nothing to fix

         17  solvency problems, but will speed up any supposed

         18  crisis.

         19                 I an concerned about the tremendous

         20  debt we are leaving future generations.  The

         21  proposed changes to Social Security include

         22  trillions of dollars in administration costs, and

         23  transition expenses.  Trillions of dollars added to

         24  our growing national debt.  We need to put a stop to

         25  these dangerous proposals. Private money can be used
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          2  for all sorts of gambling, not Social insurance.

          3                 I commend the New York City Council

          4  for taking a stand on this important issue.  And I

          5  would like to see more of our representatives in the

          6  Federal Government step up to the podium with a plan

          7  for America's future which involves easing the

          8  burden on future generations.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 I want to thank this panel, and

         12  before I get to a couple of questions, I just want

         13  to thank you, JPAC, for raising this important

         14  issue, and speaking out with a unified voice

         15  regarding this important issue.

         16                 One question that I had been

         17  presented to me by others, why is the City Council

         18  addressing a Federal issue?  And when we boil it

         19  down, yes, it is a Federal issue.  But it is a

         20  Federal issue that affects many millions of City

         21  residents.  And City workers, both past, present,

         22  and future.  So that is why the City Council wants

         23  to make a statement.  Wants to say something and

         24  present this to Congress in the form of a resolution

         25  and hear from advocates and the Borough President's
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          2  Office because we, together, stand in this fight on

          3  the future of our Social Security System. So that is

          4  why the City Council is doing this hearing today,

          5  and again, I want to thank Letitia James, my

          6  colleague, for being here today and introducing this

          7  legislation to the City Council

          8                 I'm going to ask her to make a

          9  statement now.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I just want to

         11  thank the Chair, because he's absolutely right.  We

         12  have received some criticism that this is a Federal

         13  issue and that we really shouldn't be poking our

         14  noses in this.  And that we are local elected

         15  officials and we should focus on local issues.

         16                 But the reality is that this is going

         17  to have an impact on our local constituency.  And

         18  the reality is that it's going to affect our

         19  constituency base, and so that's why I'm so happy

         20  and pleased that the Chair thought it appropriate to

         21  hold this hearing.  And so I just wanted to say

         22  thank you publicly for all that you're doing.  And

         23  your staff for making this a reality and assisting

         24  my staff, Kate Susseman (phonetic) in the back, for

         25  drafting this legislation and reaching out to all of
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          2  the advocates.

          3                 And I want to thank all of you in the

          4  room for attending this hearing, because this really

          5  is an attempt to privatize Social Security.  I live

          6  with my mother who is 87 years old, and she relies

          7  upon Social Security and a small pension.  And she's

          8  sick, she's got a significant number of ailments.

          9  And I moved her in with me most recently.  Had she

         10  continued to live on her own, she would be in

         11  poverty.

         12                 Given the rising cost of housing, the

         13  rising cost of medication, prescription drugs, the

         14  rising cost of energy costs, just the rising cost of

         15  living in New York City.  We are being priced out.

         16  And particularly seniors.  And there's not enough

         17  supportive housing, there's just not enough day care

         18  centers -- not day care centers, but facilities for

         19  seniors to attend, and there is just not enough

         20  housing for seniors in general.

         21                 If we were to privatize this, we

         22  would be putting at risk a vulnerable population.

         23  That is why we decided to do this resolution.

         24  Social Security has been a safety net to the

         25  community, and we do not want to jeopardize that
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          2  safety net by no means.  And that's why we're

          3  calling upon this Administration, the President of

          4  the United States, to dismantle this foolish

          5  attempt, I think, which would have a devastating

          6  impact not only on the

          7  City of New York, but on the nation as a whole.

          8                 And I recognize that he's playing the

          9  race card; I also recognize that he's play the

         10  generation card.  He's pitting younger folks against

         11  seniors, and he's pitting Blacks against Whites.

         12  And that, we as a society should not tolerate and

         13  that's why we should raise our collective voice and

         14  say, "We're going to stand together, all of us and

         15  say NO to this foolish attempt".

         16                 And so I just thank all of you for

         17  being in this room, an again, just thank the

         18  Chairman for this hearing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you

         20  Council Member James.  I appreciate your efforts as

         21  well in Intro. No. 832A.  A number of my colleagues

         22  co- sponsored it as well.  I am not currently a co-

         23  sponsor of this bill, but after today, I will make

         24  sure that I am a co- sponsor on the bill.  Thank you

         25  for bringing it to my attention, Council Member
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          2  James.

          3                 I have one question for the panel.

          4  And again, we're talking about Social Security that

          5  affects so many.  So when a change is made to Social

          6  Security, it affects again, that many people.  But

          7  to this panel, we are asking the person to

          8  reconsider this dismantling of the entire system,

          9  since he has not brought forth any suggestions on

         10  now to cure the current system.  Does this panel

         11  have a message for the President?  Do you have any

         12  ideas on how to again, reform the current system

         13  without dismantling it? Amy ideas?

         14                 We do trust that those in Congress,

         15  those in Washington, may be better suited to give

         16  ideas on how to fix the Social Security System.  But

         17  many times the ideas are not in Washington, they're

         18  right here in our own backyard.  And so I propose to

         19  this panel, and probably panels to follow, any

         20  suggestions on how to reform the current system of

         21  Social Security and save its fate?

         22                 MS. ROMANICK: I'd like to preface

         23  this by saying that I think all these options need

         24  significant research, and none of the ones I'm going

         25  to present is an endorsement.  It's just laying out
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          2  some reasonable suggestions that I have heard that

          3  are worthy of further exploration.

          4                 They include everything from raising

          5  the cap on current Social Security taxes.  I've

          6  heard everything from -- some support here for that

          7   -- I've heard everything suggested from raising the

          8  cap indefinitely; to providing a doughnut hole where

          9  you don't tax things in the middle, but you tax

         10  something let's say above $200,000 or $300,000;

         11  rolling back the tax cuts, something that I

         12  mentioned in my testimony.  The gap in Social

         13  Security is estimated to be the same amount of money

         14  that we would be able to find if we rolled back the

         15  President's tax cuts for only the top of one percent

         16  of wage earners. That's people making above $300,000

         17  a year.

         18                 So that seems like a reasonable

         19  solution.  There's also been proposals from

         20  everything from raising the retirement age; to

         21  diversifying the overall portfolio, rather than

         22  making an individual investment account, but

         23  diversifying the overall portfolio.

         24                 So these are just some options.

         25  Again, none of these are endorsements.  They are
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          2  just things that, I think, any option is worthy of

          3  exploration.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

          5                 MS.KRAKOWSKI: One of the things that

          6  a number of the advocacy groups who have been

          7  working on Social Security and sort of trying to

          8  figure out how to confront the issue have talked

          9  about our potential solutions.

         10                 One of the things that we sort of

         11  shied away from is exactly that, because to admit

         12  that there is a solution is admitting that there is

         13  a crisis which you don't believe actually exists.

         14  So the quick answer to your question is that it's a

         15  good program, at the most pessimistic views, will

         16  start to face some problems in 40 years down the

         17  road, if at all, and we really feel very strongly

         18  that it's a good program and it does not require

         19  fixing.  If so, some of those are being thrown

         20  around as being possibilities.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Before I go to

         22  Council Member James, I would say that if we can at

         23  all possibly be on the same page and say it's not

         24  currently a crisis.  I think the discussion and

         25  dialogue that we have here is healthy, to be
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          2  slightly ahead of the curve in case, in the future,

          3  and we may be talking 10, 15, 20 years down the

          4  line, maybe even 40 years, but that we'd be slightly

          5  ahead of the curve and think of possible reforms to

          6  the system in case it does become a crisis at that

          7  point.

          8                 Council Member James.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: A couple of

         10  questions and comments, and thoughts all rolled into

         11  one.  And you can respond.

         12                 The argument has been, Women live

         13  longer than men. Social Security is basically a fund

         14  for widows.  Black women outlive Black men.  And so

         15  this is going to have an adverse impact on men and

         16  particularly men of color.

         17                 To the analysis of solvency, I guess

         18  I just heard a question with regard to that

         19  analysis.  You question that.  And should it be

         20  means tested?  Should people like Bill Gates get

         21  Social Security?  Should Oprah Winfrey get Social

         22  Security? Thoughts like that come to my mind, and so

         23  if you could just comment on that, just engaging in

         24  some free thought.

         25                 MS. BALMUTH: Social Security is
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          2  taxed.  And there are people who retire who have

          3  other means, rightly receive the Social Security

          4  benefits because it's an even field.  But the money

          5  is taxed.  The tax money goes into the regular fund.

          6    And it's taxed at 85 percent.

          7                 One possible way, I'm just throwing

          8  it out, is maybe raise that, or have some of the tax

          9  money be funneled into Social Security.  That's

         10  money there that some of the very rich people could

         11  be pulled into in a way that wouldn't be painful.

         12  Just a thought, and I don't think people are aware

         13  of that, maybe.

         14                 But some people pay even a third of

         15  their Social Security income back into the tax

         16  system.

         17                 MS. ROMANICK: If I may, I just want

         18  to comment on two things.  First, when you are

         19  suggesting whether or not it should be means tested,

         20  I think one of the reasons that programs like Social

         21  Security and Medicare are so successful and so

         22  popular, in that everybody pays into them, and

         23  everybody benefits.  And I think that's one of the

         24  things that lead to its enormous popularity.

         25                 The other thing that I would just

                                                            30

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  caution in doing any means testing.  As we know,

          3  incomes mean very different things in various parts

          4  of the country.  Cost of living ranges in various

          5  parts of the country.  And I would just be concerned

          6  about engaging any sort of slippery slope where you

          7  compare cost of living in New York with cost of

          8  living with somewhere where it's significantly less.

          9    And what that would mean to the citizens of the

         10  City.  So there's caution on that.

         11                 MS. FORMAN: Also, the question about

         12  the Bill Gates of the world who are few and far

         13  between.  I understand the question, the question

         14  certainly has come up.  Again, sort of following on

         15  that same line about making differentiations on a

         16  program which has traditionally, and was created as

         17  a program where everyone pays in and everyone

         18  receives, is a very strong and important thing that

         19  we need to support.  As soon as you start siphoning

         20  off groups of people who are not going to benefit

         21  from the program, questions start coming in, "Why am

         22  I paying into a program that doesn't benefit me?".

         23                 Questions also start arising where

         24  you create a group of people who are at the lowest

         25  end, who are receiving. And they come in, and they
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          2  are considered and perceived as welfare cases.

          3  We've seen it happen, and we see it happening with a

          4  lot of these other programs that benefit the same

          5  groups of people.  The Medicare system is being

          6  changed dramatically.  Medicaid is being threatened

          7  from all ends.  And to put Social Security into a

          8  situation where there are some groups of people who

          9  are being put into a system based on the wage

         10  indexing; others by price indexing; this group pays

         11  more in their taxing; this group gets benefits; this

         12  group doesn't.  It's going to pit people, just as

         13  you were saying earlier, against each other and it's

         14  not the way to go.

         15                 MS. FORMAN: As far as means testing

         16  is concerned, I'm just going out on a limb on this

         17   -- I think that a lot of the people out there who

         18  are very wealthy, the top one percent or two

         19  percent, would probably be very willing not to

         20  collect benefits, because they just don't need it.

         21  I'm just guessing on that.  I have a feeling about

         22  that.  Not all of them, but I think probably some of

         23  them would say, give it back to those who need it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I want to thank

         25  this first panel for their time and testimony today
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          2  on a most important issue. Thank you very much for

          3  being here.  Have a good day. Thank you.

          4                 Our next panel please step forward.

          5  June Zaccone, National Jobs for All Coalition;

          6  Kathleen Fitzgibbons, Federation of Protestant

          7  Welfare Agencies; Larry Wood, New York Network for

          8  Action in Medicare; Doug Henwood, LBO.

          9                 Again, I want to thank you all for

         10  being here today. After you get situated, if you

         11  could give your name, affiliation, and your

         12  testimony, I'd appreciate it.

         13                 MS. ZACCONE: My name is June Zaccone,

         14  and I am an economist speaking for the Executive

         15  Committee of the National Jobs for All Coalition, a

         16  group working toward jobs for all at decent pay.

         17                 Our work on Social Security stems

         18  from the direct relationship between the health of

         19  Social Security and employment. The more people at

         20  work, and the better their pay, the more funds flow

         21  into Social Security Trust Fund through the payroll

         22  tax.

         23                 Congratulations to the City Council

         24  for its resolution on Social Security.  It

         25  recognizes Social Security as our most successful
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          2  and popular social insurance program for seniors and

          3  for younger people too.  Social Security keeps many

          4  seniors out of poverty, and off welfare.  Social

          5  Security also supports local finances by keeping

          6  businesses healthier, even during recessions.

          7                 With seniors continuing to have

          8  income, local governments have the advantage of

          9  higher sales and business tax collections.  Despite

         10  the resolution's excellent support of Social

         11  Security, it concedes an important argument that may

         12  leave an opening for changes in Social Security.

         13  Privatization is not the only way to destroy it.  It

         14  can also be destroyed by benefit cuts, which weaken

         15  its political support.  The resolution states that

         16  the President's plan does not "solve for the

         17  predicted shortfall of finances that may, in the

         18  long term, create huge deficits in the program".  As

         19  Robert Reich, former Labor Secretary and Social

         20  Security Trustee says, "I don't believe Social

         21  Security needs fixing".

         22                 There is no reason to change Social

         23  Security in any way right now.  No one can forecast

         24  accurately for even one year ahead, much less for

         25  75, as the Trustees are obliged to do.  Except for
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          2  the current year, their predictions about the health

          3  of the Trust Fund have been underestimates every

          4  year for nearly a decade.

          5                 Using Trustee economic growth

          6  projections, which fall far short of our actual

          7  growth rates for the last 40 years, nearly every one

          8  agrees that beneficiaries are fully covered until at

          9  least 2041.  These projections build in the decline

         10  and the numbers of workers for retirees that are

         11  said to cause the funding problem.  I've appended a

         12  summary, showing the predictions and their

         13  consequences.  It would be prudent to wait and see

         14  what our economic experience will be over the next

         15  few decades.

         16                 The Trust Fund is sufficient for the

         17  next 35 years. If, as the Trustees assume, our

         18  growth rate averages a little more than half that of

         19  the previous 40 years, there will be time to adjust

         20  Social Security.  Or better, to improve our

         21  economy's performance.

         22                 If their more realistic assumption,

         23  growth of about 80 percent of our previous

         24  experience is accurate, the Trust Fund will grow

         25  without limit.  If the economy is healthy, so too is
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          2  Social Security.

          3                 Occasionally, someone describes the

          4  crisis year as 2017, the year that we are projected

          5  to begin tapping the Trust Fund.  President Bush has

          6  described the Fund as "worthless IOUs", but our

          7  creditors in China and Japan, and corporations

          8  around the world, expect to be repaid, why not

          9  seniors.

         10                 Further, the President recently said,

         11   "I know some Americans have reservations about

         12  investing in the Stock Market, so I propose that one

         13  investment option will consist entirely of Treasury

         14  Bonds, which are backed by the full faith and credit

         15  of the US Government".  I think it's safe to say

         16  that the second statement is more accurate one.  If

         17  the President believes that the Trust Fund is

         18  worthless, he should propose an immediate reduction

         19  in payroll taxes.  Otherwise, his proposed benefit

         20  cuts seem to be an attempt at deficit reduction

         21  using the Social Security Trust Fund, with payroll

         22  taxes paid by ordinary workers.

         23                 Social Security benefits have already

         24  been denied to college students who are children of

         25  disabled or diseased workers, and by 2027, workers
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          2  will have to wait to age 67 for full benefits. At a

          3  time when increasing numbers of workers have no

          4  health insurance, and no pension, when jobs are less

          5  secure, and when wages have lagged, forcing many

          6  people to cut into their saving, cutting Social

          7  Security benefits will shrink or destroy the last

          8  safety net.  Thank you for giving me this time.

          9                 MS. FITZGIBBONS: Good afternoon.  My

         10  name is Kathy Fitzgibbons, and I am the Senior

         11  Policy Analyst for the Elderly at the Federation of

         12  Protestant Welfare Agencies.  I'd like to thank the

         13  Council for the opportunity to testify today.

         14                 FPWA is an alliance of over 200 human

         15  services agencies providing social services to some

         16  2 million City residents of every age, religion, and

         17  race.  Our diverse membership includes child care

         18  centers, after- school programs, family support

         19  programs, senior day care centers, settlement

         20  houses, and AIDS service organizations.

         21                 I am here today to testify in support

         22  of resolution 832, calling on the Bush

         23  Administration to abandon its efforts to dismantle

         24  the Social Security System.  A radical overhaul of

         25  the system is unnecessary, and would have a
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          2  devastating impact on future recipients.  According

          3  to experts, there is no crisis in Social Security.

          4  While there are many sensible strategies that may be

          5  implemented to balance finances for the long term,

          6  Social Security is currently in sound financial

          7  shape.

          8                 There are 18 strategies recommended

          9  by the National Academy of Social Insurance.  And a

         10  combination of these could be used in the future if

         11  it is deemed necessary.

         12                 There are many reasons for keeping

         13  the system intact.  Social Security is a vital anti-

         14  poverty program for the aged, particularly for women

         15  and minorities.  For a number of social and labor

         16  market reasons, women and people of color are

         17  disproportionately concentrated in low- paying jobs.

         18    Without opportunities for education and training,

         19  many of these individuals have lifetime earnings at,

         20  or near, the poverty level.

         21                 Most of us are aware that to prepare

         22  for our senior years, we need a job today that

         23  provides a pension, and we need to contribute to

         24  retirement accounts and save whatever we can.  The

         25  income from these sources, combined with our Social
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          2  Security benefit, means that we can live comfortably

          3  once we retire.

          4                 For those who have spent their

          5  working years at poor- paying jobs without benefits,

          6  Social Security is the only source of income that

          7  they have to look forward to.

          8                 Consider the following facts:

          9                 Without Social Security, the poverty

         10  rate for all women over 65 would be significantly

         11  higher, increasing from 12.4 percent to over 50

         12  percent.

         13                 For women of color age 65 and over,

         14  without Social Security, the poverty rate for this

         15  population would jump from 26 percent to 35 percent.

         16                 For one in four widowed, divorced, or

         17  never- married women, Social Security is their only

         18  source of income.

         19            Social Security provides inflation-

         20  protected lifetime benefits with no attached market

         21  risk.  In addition, the income is guaranteed for

         22  life, meaning that women, with their longer life

         23  expectancies, need never fear outliving their Social

         24  Security benefits.  It is critical that women, and

         25  especially women of color, have this stream of
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          2  consistent, guaranteed income in their later years.

          3                 FPWA applauds that Council for its

          4  leadership in assuring that Social Security remains

          5  intact.

          6                 MR. WOOD: Hello, my name is Larry

          7  Wood.  I'm an organizer at Goddard Riverside

          8  Community Center, which is a settlement house on the

          9  Upper West Side.  And I'm here on behalf of NYNAMSS,

         10  which is a coalition addressing Medicare and Social

         11  Security.

         12                 One, I do want to thank the

         13  Committee.  We are testifying in support of

         14  Resolution 832, but actually, with one caveat, which

         15  I'll address in a minute.  While this resolution is

         16  a very important item, I think an even greater

         17  service would be working with us, and different

         18  coalitions addressing this issue to educate the

         19  broader public around Social Security and these

         20  proposals that are being put forth.

         21                 And I think even more importantly, is

         22  working with us to channel the concerns and the

         23  questions that constituents have, and channel that

         24  into action.  There's a lot of activity in fighting

         25  back these proposals, and we welcome working with
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          2  you to again, address those concerns, but more

          3  importantly, get people involved in the fight back.

          4                 And we would welcome an opportunity

          5  to conduct a briefing for Council Members and their

          6  staff members on the Social Security, the proposals

          7  that are being debated.  And again, how to plug

          8  people into the actions.

          9                 Before you, you have the packet.  On

         10  the top is the NYNAMSS's mission statement and list

         11  of meetings.  And I want to point out that we've

         12  produced a Social Security Tool Kit.  And in your

         13  packet, you have some excerpts from that.  There's

         14  the Table of Contents and some pieces we took out.

         15  This is the final draft, and the Teamsters are

         16  actually going to be printing this up on Friday, the

         17  first batch.  And we'll be getting them out.

         18                 We're also going to be holding a

         19  speakers' training. The material that we put

         20  together here is almost a "Greatest Hits" of some of

         21  the fact sheets and some of the materials that are

         22  being produced by organizations across the country.

         23  In it, we have the Introduction, we have a two- page

         24  fact sheet, which we think is very important about

         25  why we think Social Security works; why it's not a
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          2  crisis and going bankrupt; information about the

          3  benefit cuts; the privatization proposals; why is

          4  everybody affected; and most importantly, the long-

          5  term solvency issue is manageable and can be

          6  addressed.

          7                 In fact, Congressman Nadler, and

          8  Congressman Rangle, who represent the Upper West

          9  Side and our Senior Center, Congressman Nadler, he's

         10  a great speaker on this, and he's actually put forth

         11  the notion that there's a long- term solvency crisis

         12  is actually false.  There are other projections that

         13  show that it's solvent going into infinity.  In

         14  fact, we should be talking about solutions that

         15  truly strengthen Social Security, so we can reduce

         16  the retirement age.  I can't get in until 67.  I

         17  think it should be back at 65.  And there are other

         18  seniors, an organization called SASS, Seniors for

         19  Adequate Social Security, are proposing increasing

         20  the benefit.  Because while a lot of people are

         21  lifted out of poverty, there are still many people

         22  living in poverty, and we still have to address

         23  that.

         24                 New York is a battleground state.

         25  They need the support of the nine Republican
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          2  Congress Members.  There's a huge effort to really

          3  pressure them to oppose the President's plans. The

          4   "In this Together" campaign, a public citizen

          5  action, and the NYMASS Coalition.

          6                 So we welcome working with you to

          7  engage people in this battle.  And it's of paramount

          8  importance.  The issue about whether or not the City

          9  Council should be involved with this, this is a

         10  defining moment in our country, how this issue is

         11  resolved. And I believe it will have a huge impact

         12  on the outcome of the 2006 elections, and who

         13  controls the Senate and the House.  So we all should

         14  be involved in this battle.  Thank you.

         15                 MR. HENWOOD: My name is Doug Henwood.

         16  I am an economic journalist who's been writing about

         17  Social Security and related pension issues for over

         18  a decade.  I edit Left Business Observer, on

         19  economic and politics, and I'm the author of several

         20  books, most recently, Wall Street: How it Works and

         21  for Whom, and After the New Economy.

         22                 I's like to make several quick

         23  points.  I've also submitted a longer article with

         24  my written testimony.

         25                 In a phrase, the bankruptcy
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          2  projections are bogus. All the debate around Social

          3  Security proceeds from the near universal assumption

          4  that it's headed for the rocks.  There are

          5  differences on the details, but few challenges to

          6  the alleged certainty of this prediction.

          7                 The source of this prediction is

          8  ultimately the annual report of the Trustees of the

          9  Social Security System, issued every Spring.  On

         10  close examination, these projections are, to put it

         11  kindly, dubious.  On almost every count, the

         12  Trustees make the gloomiest imaginable assumptions.

         13                 First, the demographic assumptions.

         14  Of course, as my generation, the Baby Boom ages, the

         15  share of the elderly in the total population will

         16  rise.  But by how much?  Today, about 12 percent of

         17  the population is over 65.  The Trustees project

         18  this rising steadily to 23 percent in 2080.  The

         19  Census Bureau, by contrast, projects the rising to

         20  less than 22 percent.  That difference, slightly

         21  over a percentage point, may not sound like much,

         22  but if the Consensus is right, and the Trustees are

         23  wrong, that would reduce the system's projected

         24  deficit by one quarter.

         25                 But that's not all.  The Trustees
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          2  project a sharp falloff in population growth.  A 60

          3  percent decline from current levels, meaning fewer

          4  young people and more older people.  Part of the

          5  reason for this decline is that they project

          6  immigration to fall sharply from current levels.

          7  Important, because most immigrants are young, and

          8  therefore, net contributors to Social Security.  Why

          9  these assumptions, so at odds with history?  They

         10  don't really say.

         11                 That sharp falloff in population

         12  growth is partly responsible for sharp decline in

         13  the projected growth of the labor force.  But it's

         14  not just a matter of slower population growth.

         15  They're projecting that the labor force will grow

         16  more slowly than the general population, even though

         17  the workforce has been growing twice as fast as the

         18  population for the last 45 years.  Again, why should

         19  the future be that different from the past?

         20                 The economic assumptions are equally

         21  gloomy.  Even though we've been hearing a lot about

         22  the productivity revolution of the last decade,

         23  that's nowhere in these projections.  They see

         24  productivity growths over the next 25 years as being

         25  20 percent slower than it's been over the last
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          2  century.

          3                 Since economic growth is essentially

          4  the sum of the growth in the labor force and in

          5  productivity, they're projecting that economic

          6  growth will average just two percent over the next

          7  75 years, two percent a year over the next 75 years.

          8    Compared with almost three and a half percent over

          9  the last 75 years.

         10                 The rate they are projecting is thus,

         11  comparable to the 1930s.  If we're really facing a

         12  75- year near depression, we should be having a

         13  conversation about that.  But if the economy grows

         14  in line with historical averages, Social Security

         15  faces no funding shortfall at all.  The system will

         16  be sound as far as even the youngest eyes can see.

         17                 Enough number crunching.  In closing,

         18  I'd like to emphasize the different visions of

         19  society between the privatizers and the architects

         20  of the Social Security System.  The privatizers see

         21  a world in which we're all lone individuals, in

         22  ceaseless competition with each other, with no

         23  responsibility to anyone but ourselves.  Behind

         24  Social Security, is a vision of solidarity between

         25  the people of all ages, races, and incomes.
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          2                 Do we really want to throw scores of

          3  millions of elderly people on the mercies of a

          4  volatile and pitiless Stock Market?  Or do we want a

          5  society in which the elderly are guaranteed that

          6  they won't have to decide between buying food and

          7  buying medicine.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 We have a question from Council

         11  Member Letitia James.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It's more a

         13  comment than anything else.  First, to Mr. Henwood.

         14  Where can I get a copy of your book on Wall Street:

         15  How it Works and For Whom?  Is it on line?

         16                 MR. HENWOOD: Actually, I just put it

         17  on line, because the publisher went and got it print

         18  so it can easily be downloaded from

         19  wallstreetthebook.com.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.  And you

         21  are absolutely right.  Are we headed for a

         22  depression?

         23                 MR. HENWOOD: I don't think we're

         24  headed for a depression, but if a branch of our

         25  government thinks we are, that should be the central
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          2  issue and not what's happening to Social Security.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

          4                 And Larry Wood, I'd like for you to

          5  come out to Brooklyn, and help us organize in

          6  Brooklyn.  Help us get some of our elected

          7  officials, Federal elected officials focused on this

          8  issue.  I see your Manhattan- centric.  I represent

          9  Brooklyn, and we really need to jump start the work,

         10  the campaign in Brooklyn.

         11                 And to Ms. Fitzgibbons, this is an

         12  issue really about gender equality.  It's a women's

         13  right issue, and we should really focus it and

         14  package it as such.

         15                 And so I just thank all of you for

         16  your comments.

         17                 And lastly, my fried here, thank you.

         18    I'm going to read all of these materials and I

         19  thank this panel.  This panel has been really

         20  inspiring.  And it is bogus.  It's absolutely bogus,

         21  and you confirmed that today.  Thank you.

         22                 MR. WOOD: Councilman James, the

         23  NYNAMSS Coalition is actually Citywide, and we have

         24  a big active base in Brooklyn, including the

         25  Brooklyn Interagency Council on the Aging.  So we
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          2  certainly can have folks out there in Brooklyn to

          3  help.

          4                 And in fact, some of those fact

          5  sheets that raise some of the issues you brought up

          6  about how Social Security affects women, children,

          7  people with disabilities, African- Americans, et

          8  cetera, so we really think that's very important to

          9  get that information out.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         11  much to this panel.  We appreciate your time and

         12  testimony today.

         13                 The next panel.  Marjorie Eves, from

         14  the Women's City Club of New York; Ellen Ensig-

         15  Brodsky; Edith Prentiss; and Jay Jay Toole.

         16                 Again, I want to thank all who are

         17  here today.  The purpose of this hearing is to bring

         18  this issue to light.  And to bring people together

         19  so we can work together on this issue.  So, again, I

         20  appreciate all being here.

         21                 I want to thank this next panel for

         22  being here as well.  If you would just state your

         23  name, if you have an affiliation, representing a

         24  group, and then give your testimony.

         25                 MS. ENSIG- BRODSKY: Let me say that
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          2  it has been very gratifying representing the

          3  Manhattan BoroughWide InterAgency Council on Aging.

          4  To hear so many of my colleagues, many of whom are

          5  members of Manhattan BoroughWide through the various

          6  eight interagencies councils all over Manhattan.

          7  And we cooperate with the other borough interagency

          8  councils.

          9                 To hear the quality and the passion

         10  of the testimonies.  I don't know if I'm going to

         11  add too much to it, but I will certainly will,

         12  because I feel I'm wearing two hats here. One, for

         13  most senior citizens, on behalf of the Manhattan

         14  BoroughWide InterAgency Council on Aging; and the

         15  other as a member of a dying breed.  New York City's

         16  Middle Class.  Ten days from now, I'll be

         17  celebrating my 72nd birthday -- thank you -- and at

         18  least for now, I am able to buy food, maintain my

         19  one- room apartment, pay for light and telephone,

         20  largely because I can anticipate a stable, monthly

         21  Social Security and retirement income.            Out

         22  of those 72 years, I've worked for about 45 or more,

         23  and a good part of my paycheck had been going toward

         24  Social Security and other types of taxes.  I didn't

         25  have to worry, because I knew there was going to be
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          2  some form of a safety net if other income wasn't

          3  coming through.  Thus, I've been able to live in

          4  this City, work in this City, and I love this City.

          5  And after retirement, volunteer my productive

          6  services to my community.

          7                 But for the coming generations of

          8  retirees, the disabled, their spouses and children,

          9  and partners, where is the safety net and the peach

         10  of mind?

         11                 Where is that, when there has been a

         12  stable foundation of income and that turns risky

         13  because it's tied to the ups and downs of our Stock

         14  Market.  And obviously, as it's been said here, our

         15  economy is certainly not a predictable one.

         16                 We're Depression babies.  We don't

         17  count on anything.

         18                 Indeed, Social Security provides more

         19  than a half of the income for two- thirds of this

         20  nation's retirees.  And in New York State, actually

         21  33 percent, or just about one- third of the retirees

         22  receiving Social Security, that Social Security

         23  accounts for over 90 percent of their income.  Now

         24  you can imagine, if that starts fluctuating all over

         25  the place.  Ninety percent of your income, how are
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          2  you going to manage your life?  Particularly in the

          3  intensity of this City.

          4                 So call it privatization, or whatever

          5  you want, it won't work.  Where is the safety and

          6  the peace of mind?  When the benefits cuts will be

          7  borne disproportionately, by the middle- income

          8  seniors.  Not the very wealthy, who's cuts would

          9  amount to an insignificant percentage of their

         10  income.  Call it such burden, progressive price

         11  indexing, or whatever, it won't work.

         12                 Where is the safety and the peach of

         13  mind?  When the cap for earning subject to Social

         14  Security taxation -- if that remains at $90,000, not

         15  touching the six or seven- figure incomes that are

         16  part of the growing very wealthy in this country.

         17  Who will really be generating the support for Social

         18  Security?

         19                 Once again, it's on the backs of the

         20  middle class. That won't work.  It's been said, and

         21  it's very true, we seniors are facing out- of- sight

         22  rents, with a reduction in affordable senior housing

         23  programs.  There are skyrocketing medical and

         24  prescription costs, increased public transportation

         25  costs. While at the same time, they children, the
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          2  families, and the friends and the partner, who have

          3  been historically considered our support system, our

          4  caregiving system, are finding in increasingly

          5  difficult to find stable jobs, and jobs that pay

          6  them adequately.

          7                 Well, is this the time to buy into an

          8  unstable, unfair replacement for Social Security

          9  program?  Of course not.

         10                 It is the time for this government,

         11  this Federal Government, to look at its priorities.

         12  To where it gets its money, and how it spends its

         13  money.  And realistically enable the promise that is

         14  there now for longer, productive lifespans for its

         15  citizens.  That will work.

         16                 So on behalf of the Senior Advocacy

         17  Committee, and as the endangered Middle Class, I

         18  urge that the Council vote for 832A.

         19                 MS. IVES:  I am Marjorie Ives.  I am

         20  Chair of the Status of Women Committee of the

         21  Women's City Club of New York.  We are a nonprofit,

         22  nonpartisan organization working to shape public

         23  policy through advocacy, education, and citizen

         24  participation.  And this is our 90th year, our 90th

         25  anniversary year.
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          2                 The Women's City Club fully supports

          3  Resolution 832A.  In September of 2000, we passed a

          4  resolution supporting the following principles:

          5                 Current benefit levels for retirees

          6  and the disabled should not be reduced and the cost

          7  of living adjustments should be continued.

          8                 The current retirement age for

          9  receipt of full benefits should not be further

         10  raised.

         11                 Individuals should not be permitted

         12  to put Social Security contributions into private

         13  individual investment accounts.

         14                 It is appropriate to consider the

         15  investment by the Federal Government of a portion of

         16  Social Security funds in restricted market accounts,

         17  as is done by State and local pension funds.

         18                 The Women's City Club continues to

         19  support these principles, and does not believe that

         20  Social Security is in as severe a financial crisis

         21  as the Bush Administration has purported it to be.

         22  As noted by conservative think tanks such as the

         23  Cato Institute and the Heritage Foundation, as well

         24  as AARP, the Trust Fund will be able to continue to

         25  pay 10 percent of its promised benefits until 2041.
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          2  And after that, even with no changes made, there

          3  will still be enough money coming in to the program

          4  to pay 70 percent of all benefits for decades to

          5  come.

          6                 Privatization would do nothing to

          7  solve the anticipated shortfall or ensure long- term

          8  solvency, which the President has admitted.

          9  Diverting funds from Social Security would only put

         10  a guaranteed, defined benefit at risk, and worsen

         11  the problem.

         12                 Furthermore, changing the calculation

         13  of benefits from wage indexing to price indexing

         14  would hurt recipients. Benefits would be reduced by

         15  the proportion that real growth and wages outpace

         16  real growth in prices.

         17                 Women have the most to lose from

         18  privatization of Social Security, since they depend

         19  more than men on spousal and survivor benefits.

         20  They collect benefits for more years than men do,

         21  and a greater proportion of their total retirement

         22  income comes from Social Security.  According to the

         23  Institute for Women's Policy Research, Social

         24  Security is the only source of income for one of

         25  every four women 65 and over.
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          2                 The Women's City Club has been active

          3  in opposing President Bush's plan. On April 8th, we

          4  hosted a forum that sought to educate the general

          5  public and our members about Social Security as it

          6  exists today, the proposed privatization plan, and

          7  how individuals will be affected by such changes.

          8                 Several members of the Women's City

          9  Club have been volunteering at the Citizen Action

         10  phone bank, where votes in key states are called and

         11  connected with their elected representatives to

         12  voice their opposition to privatization.

         13                 In closing, the Women's City Club

         14  supports Resolution 832.  Social Security must

         15  remain a redistributive insurance program serving

         16  older adults, persons with disabilities, children

         17  and other survivors.  The Women's City Club believes

         18  that any changes that will diminish the original

         19  goals and intent of Social Security will not benefit

         20  Americans.

         21                 And we thank your Committee for

         22  raising this issue, and we certainly support your

         23  fight in it.

         24                 MS. TOOLE: Good afternoon.  My name

         25  is Jay Toole, and I am the Shelter Organizer for
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          2  Queers for Economic Justice.

          3                 And I want to take this time to tell

          4  you why Social Security is important to the lesbian,

          5  gay, bisexual, and transgender community.

          6                 In 1964, at the age of 16, my father

          7  threw me out of the house for being a lesbian.

          8  Living on my own, and on the streets of the Village,

          9  I picked up a heroin habit, which lasted for years.

         10  When methadone programs came to New York City, I

         11  wanted on that program.  It was then that I got on

         12  Welfare and Medicaid, which helped me get an

         13  apartment and pay for my methadone.  But most of

         14  all, it gave me time to get myself together.  When I

         15  was ready, I found a job and was able to get off,

         16  but Welfare did save my life.

         17                 At the age of 50, I was diagnosed

         18  with cirrhosis of the liver, chronic hepatitis B and

         19  C, and was put on Social Security disability.  I

         20  depend on Social Security and anticipate that I will

         21  have to depend upon it for the rest of my life.

         22                 And I am not alone in my community.

         23  Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender senior

         24  citizens are less likely to have partners to help

         25  them financially.  LGBT seniors are less likely to
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          2  have children to depend on.  And when we do have

          3  children, we are often rejected by them because of

          4  our sexual orientation or gender identity, and

          5  cannot depend on them for financial help.

          6                 Forty to fifty percent of the

          7  homeless street youths identify as LGBT.  Many of

          8  whom continue to struggle with poverty when they

          9  become adults.  They cannot afford to buy their own

         10  pension plans, and they are not going to become

         11  educated about the Stock Market and how it works in

         12  order to smartly invest their retirement savings.

         13  So they are very dependent upon the government

         14  safety net.

         15                 My partner Sheila, she receives

         16  Social Security disability for her mental illness.

         17  She is not able to work, and is dependent upon the

         18  support to help her now as she is aging. Tampering

         19  with the current Social Security System makes me

         20  worried about how younger people in Sheila's

         21  position will survive.

         22                 My friend Janet worked her whole

         23  life, and as a result, is entitled to Social

         24  Security now that she is older and disabled.  But

         25  she never made enough money at her jobs to have
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          2  saved enough for a private retirement account to

          3  sustain her costs now through the rest of her life.

          4                 For people like Janet and myself,

          5  being a butch lesbian has limited the kind of places

          6  where we will get hired. The better- paying white

          7  collar jobs are very difficult for people like us to

          8  access.  They simply do not hire us there.  And if

          9  you are homeless, like I was, and do not have a

         10  formal education, it makes it even harder to access

         11  the better- paying jobs.

         12                 So people like us always end up in

         13  the lower- paying labor jobs.  As a result, we do

         14  not have much extra to set aside into private funds

         15  to save for our retirement.  We are busy struggling

         16  to make ends meet on a day- to- day basis.  If folks

         17  like us do not have the government safety net to

         18  count on in our old age, we, and those like us, will

         19  face a very scary future.

         20                 MS. PRENTISS: Hi.  My name is Edith

         21  Prentiss.  I am the President of Manhattan

         22  BoroughWide InterAgency Council on Aging; a Board

         23  Member of Disabled in Action; and a member of the

         24  Disabilities Network of New York City.

         25                 I would like to address this issue
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          2  from a disability point of view.  As the

          3  Administration has been pushing the privatization

          4  for Social Security, persons with disabilities  have

          5  been virtually absent from any discussion, causing

          6  many disabled to access to request Beneficiary

          7  Impact Statements regarding how the various

          8  proposals will affect us.  On Sunday, January 23rd,

          9  the Washington Post had an incredible OpEd section,

         10  nine OpEd pieces. I have it in my computer.  It's

         11  twelve pages long.  Never once, does the word

         12  disability appear in it.  Retiree appears many

         13  times, senior appears many times.

         14                 I'd like to also say that persons

         15  with disabilities are virtually absent from this

         16  resolution as well.  We only appear in the first and

         17  third "where as", which discuss the history and

         18  success of Social Security.  But the rest of the

         19  resolution focuses exclusively on retirees.  Retiree

         20  benefits, retiree da da da.

         21                 When I spoke to Council Member James'

         22  office on Friday, I said just take out "retiree".

         23  It's beneficiaries.  We're beneficiaries.  Everyone

         24  is a beneficiary.  And I think that part of the

         25  problem is when you talk about how they're setting
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          2  up populations against each other, one of the

          3  schisms that's also being set up is "retirees, they

          4  paid in, they've earned it.  You disabled folks, who

          5  are you?  What are you going to do?"  Well, a lot of

          6  disabled folks have paid in also.

          7                 The 7.5 million disabled

          8  beneficiaries, actually beneficiaries on SSDI,

          9  approximately 5 million of those are disabled

         10  individuals themselves.  The other 2.5 million are

         11  spouses and dependent children.  The impact that the

         12  President's proposed changes will have on dependent

         13  children, in survivor's benefits and disability

         14  benefits are very, very drastic.  Actually, much

         15  worse than the impact on seniors.

         16                 The disabled population has fewer

         17  safety nets.  We are caught even further, again, the

         18  same issues, most of us may not have worked long

         19  enough, and are not vested in pensions.  May not

         20  have had the offer of a pension.  I was a Case

         21  Manager for a contract agency.  You know, we got

         22  nothing.  It was five years without a pay raise.

         23  Those were the good years.

         24                 I think it's very important to

         25  recognize that Social Security is a program that is
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          2  funded by all workers.  To pay all workers.  And we

          3  can't worry about the Bill Gates of the world, the

          4  Oprah Winfreys, because when we start talking about

          5  this worker gets that, this worker doesn't get that,

          6  you are then creating a situation almost like SSI.

          7  For those of you who know the history, SSI was a

          8  welfare program.  And was moved into Social Security

          9  to make it more acceptable.  It was considered

         10  welfare for disabled and seniors.  So people who

         11  were embarrassed to be poor.

         12                 Well, the disabled population is poor

         13  in many cases, and we are embarrassed.  We're

         14  embarrassed because of what's happened to us in this

         15  economy.

         16                 My current rent, my rent just went

         17  up, a new lease, new windows, is exceeding my Social

         18  Security.  We don't get SCREE. We don't get EPIC.

         19  We are not included in those.  And I think that the

         20  way in which this resolution is written, by not

         21  including persons with disabilities, by not

         22  including survivor's benefits, may explain why

         23  issues important to the disability community never

         24  seem to move in the Council.

         25                 And I can point specifically to the
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          2  accessible taxis and accessible ferries.  Issue that

          3  are very important to the disability community never

          4  seem to go anywhere.

          5                 The impact -- the President is

          6  suggesting that will affect workers is also very

          7  uncertain for the disabled population, because as he

          8  stated, and several people have eluded to, in his

          9  April 28th press conference, in which he guaranteed

         10  no senior or disabled individual would lose the

         11  current benefits.  He did not address what will

         12  happen to future beneficiaries.

         13                 And when a disabled individual turns

         14  65, they transfer from SSDI to retirement income.

         15  What happens then?  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 Again, I also want to thank this

         19  panel.  I do have one question for this panel.  And

         20  that is, over the past two or three months or so,

         21  the President has been out there, he chose to go out

         22  into the public and try and sell his reform of the

         23  dismantling of the Social Security System to the

         24  public, instead of going through Congress, because

         25  he felt he probably couldn't get the support amongst
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          2  his political colleagues.  So he went to the people.

          3    You've seen on TV, you might have read in the

          4  papers, hear on the radio, what is your perception

          5  of the response that the President is getting in his

          6  cross- country tour? Anybody?

          7                 MS. PRENTISS:  I think he's working

          8  very hard for very little.  He certainly not getting

          9  much bang for the dollar. I think that the was that

         10  the market has been so volatile lately, has really,

         11  hopefully taken the wind out of his sails.

         12                 At present, we have a safety net for

         13  individuals who don't have enough benefits. It is

         14  SSI.  What happens when people make bad decisions?

         15  Look at how many people, Enron, and the tech stock,

         16  who now have very expensive, worthless paper.

         17                 MS. TOOLE: I think he's left himself

         18  open and vulnerable to a lot more criticism and

         19  examination than he would have.  Without this issue,

         20  maybe he wanted to get it off a rack, in

         21  international affairs and other huge blunders, but

         22  now, we're uncovering a lot of his faulty thinking

         23  in other areas.

         24                 And I just wanted to add to what

         25  Edith was saying, I have a son who is disabled, and
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          2  as a mother, I am extremely concerned of what will

          3  happen to his benefits when he gets older and I'm

          4  not around.

          5                 MS. IVES: It seems to me that the

          6  President has hand- picked his audiences as well.

          7  The people that he's speaking to out there.  So I

          8  think that a lot of the people that he has been

          9  speaking to are people that are on his page anyway.

         10  And not to people that have to be either converted

         11  or are against it.

         12                 MS. TOOLE: And Queers for Economic

         13  Justice had a forum at LGBT's community center, and

         14  the young people from our organizations in the Queer

         15  community came out to this forum.  And they are just

         16  dead set against it.  They are not going to sign on

         17  to this bill.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 Council Member Laticia James.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: To Ms.

         22  Prentiss, who I see outside all the time lobbying on

         23  behalf of accessible taxis, you are absolutely

         24  right.  The disabled community is invisible.

         25                 And I just wanted to note that the
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          2  language has been changed from retirees to

          3  beneficiaries as a result of your lobbying.

          4                 And to Ms. Toole, the LGBT community

          5  is invisible as well as the disabled community, and

          6  we've got to always be sensitive to those issues and

          7  make sure that you are included in all of our

          8  discussions and deliberations here in the City

          9  Council.

         10                 And I thank you for being here this

         11  afternoon.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank this panel

         13  for their time and testimony today.  Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 Our last panel, we're going to make a

         16  panel of five. And they are Paddy Quick, please step

         17  forward Paddy; Amber Hollibaugh; Clare Dockery

         18  please step forward; Frieda James; and lastly,

         19  Sharon Shapiro.

         20                 I want to thank you all for being

         21  here today on a very important issue.  I want to ask

         22  that you please state your name and your

         23  affiliation, if you're representing any group today,

         24  and then please give your testimony.

         25                 MS. QUICK: My name is Paddy Quick.  I
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          2  teach Economics at St. Francis College, Brooklyn.

          3  And I'm a member of the Union for Radical Political

          4  Economics.

          5                 The Social Security System was set up

          6  by FDR in 1935 as a result of an alliance between an

          7  active working class and the liberal wing of the

          8  capitalist class that believed that compromise was

          9  necessary to preserve capitalism.  This compromise

         10  was, however, bitterly opposed from the very

         11  beginning by the conservative wing of the

         12  capitalist, and its hired help.  It's hired help

         13  being, in particular, conservative economists who

         14  are represented today in the Heritage Foundation and

         15  the Cato Institute, and who take as their mentor,

         16  Milton Friedman, who won a Nobel Prize for his

         17  disgusting work in economics.

         18                 He wrote, for example, in his classic

         19  work, Capitalism and Freedom, that he was opposed to

         20   -- and he was unambiguous on this -- opposed to

         21  present social security systems, especially the old

         22  age and retirement programs which compel people in

         23  effect, to spend a specified portion of their income

         24  on the purchase of retirement annuity, and to buy

         25  annuities from a publicly owned enterprise, meaning

                                                            67

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  the government.

          3                 The neo- liberals of today are not

          4  interested in reforming Social Security.  They want

          5  to destroy it.  They assume that the income that

          6  each individual receives is a just reward for how

          7  his or her contribution to production, and they

          8  believe that there is no such thing as involuntary

          9  poverty.  People then, they argue, have a choice as

         10  to whether or not to provide for their old age.  As

         11  Milton Friedman put it, "Those of us who believe in

         12  freedom must believe also in the freedom of

         13  individuals to make their own mistakes.  If a man --

         14  he did say man -- knowingly prefers to live for

         15  today, to use his resources for current enjoyment,

         16  deliberately choosing a penurious old age, by what

         17  right do we prevent him from doing so?"

         18                 Now I apologize to members of the

         19  Committee for making them listen to what I regard as

         20  the ravings of a neo- liberal lunatic, but there is

         21  a frightening consistency to the right- wing agenda

         22  of Friedman and his followers.

         23                 The proposed privatization of Social

         24  Security is, I believe, part of a long run, decades

         25  long strategy by the right to abolish an entire
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          2  system of protection of human and labor rights

          3  established as a result of an enormous struggle and

          4  the sacrifice of many lives.  The undermining and

          5  eventual abolition of the Social Security System is,

          6  I believe, only the first part of the agenda of the

          7  right.  Part two, which is well underway, is an

          8  assault on Medicaid, and this will be followed, I

          9  predict, by step three, an all- out- war on

         10  Medicare.  We must do everything we can to stop this

         11  juggernaut by protecting our Social Security System

         12  today.

         13                 But there is a weakness in our Social

         14  Security System that we have to recognize as we take

         15  up the task of defending it.  The system was

         16  structured as a contributory system, rather than one

         17  based on a recognition of human rights.  And of the

         18  right of people as members of a society to a decent

         19  standard of living.

         20                 The decision to structure Social

         21  Security as a contributory program, with the

         22  appearance of an insurance system, was made to avoid

         23  the charge that the program was a "socialist" one.

         24  This may have been essential for the passage of

         25  Social Security law in a period when socialism was
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          2  synonymous with evil, as it still is for many.  But

          3  it was a weakness that allowed the right to argue

          4  that this is a savings program, that people could

          5  get a higher yield in private accounts and that

          6  freedom requires them to be able to do so, to have

          7  private accounts and then to use their freedom to

          8  opt out of the system entirely.

          9                 We must, I believe, argue that when

         10  necessary, general revenue should be used if

         11  necessary, to support Social Security.  There is

         12  absolutely no obstacle to do it.  We have the right,

         13  and people in this society have the right to a

         14  decent standard of living.

         15                 I thank the Council for their work on

         16  this.

         17                 MS. SHAPIRO: My name is Sharon

         18  Shapiro.  I'm the Director of Advocacy at CID- NY,

         19  the Center for Independence of the Disabled in New

         20  York.  What I will do is I will have Edith read my

         21  testimony.  Afterwards, I will answer any questions

         22  and add any comments that I may have afterwards.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 MS. PRENTISS: (Reading Ms. Shapiro's

         25  written testimony)
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          2                 Now, I am learning disabled, so we

          3  have a few problems reading, but we'll do the best.

          4                 People with disabilities must not be

          5  afterthoughts in the debate on Social Security.  The

          6  debate has focused on proposals to change the

          7  benefit formula; limit disability benefits to the

          8  retirement benefits available at age 65; reduce cost

          9  of living adjustments; create a personal retirement

         10  account to supplement a reduced benefit.  Most of

         11  the conversation has focused on the elderly.  Yet

         12  there is a large segment of the population who will

         13  be affected, and whose voices have not been

         14  included.

         15                 A 54- year old former carpenter with

         16  a degenerative neuromuscular disease, whose Social

         17  Security benefit provides him security as he

         18  transitions from a nursing home to the community and

         19  to work.

         20                 A 59- year old former academic with

         21  Post- Polio Syndrome, hypertension, depression, and

         22  diabetes who is able to live independently with the

         23  help of his Social Security benefits.

         24                 A 39- year old woman with a

         25  psychiatric disability who is sustained by Social
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          2  Security as she takes job training to reenter the

          3  workforce.

          4                 A 59- year old former teacher with a

          5  traumatic brain injury who can no longer work, but

          6  who can live independently and productively in his

          7  community.

          8                 The program that ensures the survival

          9  and independence of people with disabilities may be

         10  about to change. But no one is talking about how it

         11  will affect the 5.9 million disabled workers; 1.6

         12  million dependents of disabled workers; the 200,000

         13  disabled widow/widowers; and the nearly 730,000

         14  disabled adult children covered by the Social

         15  Security Administration's survivor, retirement, and

         16  disability programs.

         17                 The very people who most need Social

         18  Security benefits are not being carefully considered

         19  in the debate over the future of Social Security,

         20  and are not having their often compromised

         21  employment histories factored into the equation.

         22                 The social insurance program is a

         23  safety net for people with disabilities that

         24  mitigates their poverty and isolation.  It supports

         25  them while they battle their way back into the
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          2  workplace.  It is indispensable to our efforts to

          3  achieve the full integration of people with

          4  disabilities into our society.

          5                 People with disabilities rely on all

          6  three Title II programs:

          7                 It insures against abject poverty for

          8  disabled workers and their dependents who draw on

          9  the disability insurance program.

         10                 It protects against impoverishment

         11  for disabled children including adult disabled

         12  children, and disabled spouses who survive a

         13  beneficiary and draw benefits from the survivors

         14  program.

         15                 It protects retirees with

         16  disabilities who draw retirement benefits.

         17                 Major components of various reform

         18  proposals must be examined in terms of their impact

         19  on this population.  Already, people with

         20  disabilities on Social Security live at the margin.

         21  The average benefit received by disabled workers is

         22  about $10,000 per year.  The Self- Sufficiency

         23  Standard for the City of  New York for 2004, a bare-

         24  bones budget of costs in New York City, estimates

         25  that an individual needs, at a minimum, $19,406 to
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          2  make ends meet. Does the proposal push people with

          3  disabilities into greater poverty?  Will it result

          4  lowering the SSDI benefit amount? Will it push more

          5  people onto Supplemental Security Income?  More than

          6  one million individuals are eligible for both Social

          7  Security and Supplemental Security Income because

          8  they are poor.  How will those who are dually

          9  eligible be affected?

         10                 About 34 percent of disabled workers

         11  are poor comparable to 13 percent of the non-

         12  disabled in their age range. Will changes proposed

         13  have a greater impact on people with disabilities

         14  than for other program participants?  Will benefits

         15  fall more for people with disabilities than for

         16  retired beneficiaries?  Will they increase

         17  disparities between people with disabilities and

         18  those who are temporarily able?

         19                 These questions must not be

         20  afterthoughts as changes are crafted.  We must

         21  insist that a beneficiary impact statement be

         22  prepared that considers the consequences of every

         23  major proposal for people with disabilities and

         24  their integration into society. We must slow down

         25  the reform train so that Congress can understand
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          2  fully the impact of proposed changes on people with

          3  disabilities and not.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Edith, thank you

          5  very much. Well done.  Thank you.

          6                 MS. SHAPIRO: I just want to say one

          7  thing.  People do not anticipate becoming disabled.

          8  They're not planning for it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: That's true.

         10  Thank you.  Thank you Sharon.

         11                 MS. JAMES: Hello.  I'm Frieda James.

         12  I'm a Board Member of Disabled in Action.  But I'm

         13  going to talk mostly about my own situation.

         14                 My father got sick when he was 53, he

         15  was quite young.  And it was Social Security that

         16  sustained us.  At that time, I had just graduated

         17  from college, and I was the only salary coming into

         18  the family.  It wasn't too high, because I had just

         19  recently graduated.

         20                 It was many years ago, about 50 years

         21  ago.  Then my mother went out, after many, many

         22  years, tried to get a job.  She had very little

         23  education, she got a very low paying job.  And it

         24  was only at my insistence, a few years later, that

         25  she stopped working, because she was getting very
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          2  sick, and I was worried about her.  And I said, with

          3  his Social Security, it was my father's Social

          4  Security, and I'll give you $100 a month, she

          5  stopped working.  So in my family, Social Security

          6   -- and she lived off that until she died -- Social

          7  Security was very important.

          8                 The other thing that I think is very

          9  important -- I never thought about how I'll survive

         10  when I got older.  It never occurred to me.  Well

         11  now, I'm 72, and I've been living on Social Security

         12  and my pension for the last few years.  And I want

         13  to say that just a few years before I was 65, I did

         14  go on disability.  I think a year or two.  Because I

         15  had Post- Polio Syndrome and high blood pressure.

         16  And it was getting difficult.

         17                 The point I want to make is young

         18  people don't think about it, very often, as I didn't

         19  think about it.  And I also thought, when I'm older

         20  I'm not going to need any money.  It was a dumb

         21  thing to think.  But I think that young people think

         22  that way a lot.  And I was very grateful when there

         23  was Social Security and a pension, and I live

         24  reasonably well on that.

         25                 I just think we want it for the
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          2  future.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Before we hear

          4  the next testimony, before I forget, I want to

          5  acknowledge that Council Member Dennis Gallagher was

          6  here a little earlier.  He had another commitment.

          7  He was very interested in Res. 832A.  He wished he

          8  could have stayed to give his input, but

          9  unfortunately, he had another appointment.  But I do

         10  want to acknowledge that he was here earlier,

         11  Council Member Dennis Gallagher.  Thank you.

         12                 MS. DOCKERY: Hi. My name is Clare

         13  Dockery and I'm a senior citizen and a member of

         14  several senior organizations, and some of you may

         15  know me as a housing activist.

         16                 Today, I am testifying on behalf of

         17  New York StateWide Senior Action Council in support

         18  of Resolution 832. StateWide is a grassroots,

         19  nonprofit organization of seniors and organizations

         20  of seniors throughout New York State.  We are

         21  dedicated to fighting for a decent life not only for

         22  older New Yorkers, but also for our families,

         23  friends, and communities.  And the fight to protect

         24  Social Security is our number one priority at

         25  present.
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          2                 StateWide is actively involved in a

          3  coalition with many other groups in this fight, here

          4  in New York City, in New State, and I provided

          5  information about that.  There is an enormous need

          6  for educational and advocacy activities to oppose

          7  the privatization of Social Security, and to inform

          8  people about the drastic benefit cuts proposed,

          9  particularly for younger workers.

         10                 There is no crisis in Social

         11  Security.  It is not bankrupt.  Far from it, with

         12  almost $2 trillion in reserves and more coming into

         13  the Trust Fund every day to cover the Boomers. With

         14  minor adjustments in the income cap, and other

         15  common sense options, if needed, younger workers

         16  will receive the benefits they have earned and which

         17  have been promised to them.

         18                 So we thank you for preparing a

         19  resolution objecting to the dismantling of Social

         20  Security.  It correctly recognizes that Social

         21  Security is not only about retirement security, but

         22  also about the life insurance and disability

         23  benefits for families, and that the system has

         24  worked for over 65 years.

         25                 We appreciate the New York City
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          2  Council speaking out against the destructive

          3  proposals to cut benefits and to divert payroll

          4  taxes into Wall Street.  Changes, that if enacted,

          5  would undermine the system and be harmful to the

          6  more than 3 million New Yorkers receiving benefits,

          7  including about one- third who are not retirees or

          8  seniors.  In New York City, there are more than

          9  three quarter of a million seniors receiving Social

         10  Security benefits.

         11                 I'm one of them, but I also know

         12  first hand about why Social Security is not just a

         13  program for old folks like me. I am very worried

         14  about the way young people are being misled about

         15  Social Security, and we need to make sure they

         16  understand why it is important to them, too.  Right

         17  now.  Not only is about half my income from Social

         18  Security, keeping me off welfare, but most of my

         19  adult life, while I was working and paying into the

         20  system, I knew that Social Security would provide a

         21  substantial part of my retirement income.  These

         22  proposals for Social Insecurity have taken the

         23  security I was able to count on away from my younger

         24  friends.  Some have said they will probably have to

         25  work until they are so feeble they can no longer
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          2  work.  Other young folks shrug their shoulders and

          3  say, "you're lucky, you came in at the right time".

          4            However, my mother received Social

          5  Security payments for more than 20 years.  While I

          6  was among those paying into the system.  My siblings

          7  and I would have had to support her if she had not

          8  had this income.  One of us, probably me, would have

          9  had to help provide for her housing.

         10                 Social Security currently provides

         11  income for spouses and children of covered workers.

         12  Thirty- five percent of beneficiaries in New York.

         13  My father died when I was seven and a half years

         14  old.  My father was not covered by Social Security

         15  so my mother rented rooms in our house to strangers.

         16    Who could do that now?  Could working families in

         17  New York City do this?

         18                 A final thought.  When the powers-

         19  that- be talk about putting some of the security

         20  funds into the Stock Market, whether in 401Ks or

         21  other investments, let's remember what prompted the

         22  establishment of Social Security when the Stock

         23  Market crashed in 1929.

         24                 Thanks again, and I'll try to answer

         25  any questions.
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          2                 MS. HOLLIBAUGH: Good afternoon.  I'm

          3  Amber Hollibaugh, Senior Strategist for the National

          4  Lesbian and Gay Task Force.  Founded in 1973, the

          5  National Gay and Lesbian Task Force was the first

          6  national lesbian, gay, bisexual, an transgender

          7  civil rights and advocacy organization, and remains

          8  the movement's leading voice for freedom, justice,

          9  and equality.  The Task Force works to build

         10  grassroots political power for the LGBT community in

         11  order to attain complete equality.

         12                 I am here today to add the Task

         13  Force's comments in support of Resolution 832.  Let

         14  me tell you why.

         15                 Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and

         16  transgender elders remain invisible in much of the

         17  straight aging world.  Though our numbers are

         18  significant, 100,000 LGBT elders currently live in

         19  New York City and there are over 3 million LBGT

         20  elders nationally, with those figures nearly

         21  doubling by the year 2030, we are frequently not

         22  included in the important policy questions which

         23  vitally affect our lives.

         24                 I am here today in order to guarantee

         25  that that does not occur regarding an issue as
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          2  pressing as President Bush's proposed privatization

          3  of Social Security in this country.

          4                 Let me briefly outline what is unique

          5  to lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender seniors

          6  so that you will understand why we will be

          7  especially affected if this proposed Social Security

          8  privatization actually occurs:

          9                 LGBT elders are twice as likely to be

         10  single as we age.

         11                 LGBT elders are four and a half times

         12  more likely to have no children to call on in times

         13  of need.

         14                 LGBT seniors are two and a half times

         15  more likely to live alone then our heterosexual

         16  counterparts.

         17                 LGBT couples in long- term loving

         18  partnerships continue to be legally unrecognized in

         19  this country, thereby depriving us of all the

         20  partner benefits accorded married heterosexuals

         21  through the current programs of Social Security,

         22  Medicare, and Medicaid.

         23                 When you put all the statistics

         24  together about LGBT aging, they add up to one

         25  crucial fact, LGBT people are an especially
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          2  vulnerable constituency as we age.

          3                 In all the research being done in

          4  this country to understand the key components of

          5  what constitutes aging well, it's clear that if you

          6  are alone, are without children or recognized spouse

          7  or partner, if you are not connected to your

          8  biological birth family, and if, because you've been

          9  forced to live with stigma, prejudice, and

         10  discrimination, which may have detrimentally

         11  affected your job options, you are likely to have

         12  little independent resources to bring to your own

         13  aging future at the point in time when you can no

         14  longer work.  Thank you are in a particularly high

         15  risk group as an elder.  This profile describes LGBT

         16  seniors distinctly, and it's why privatization of

         17  Social Security would have such a divesting impact

         18  on our LGBT elders and communities.

         19                 LGBT elders are a part of the broad

         20  groups of elder Americans, especially women, low-

         21  income people and people of color, who often rely

         22  entirely or primarily on Social Security to survive

         23  in our old age.  And as I said earlier, because of

         24  the discrimination and economic insecurity due to

         25  trans and homophobia we have faced throughout our
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          2  lives, and therefore, in the workplace, we are

          3  unlikely to have little else to depend on

          4  economically when we get old.

          5                 We cannot afford to take a chance on

          6  losing any part of that monthly income, which we

          7  have counted on having at that point in our lives,

          8  by being forced to invest in private market driven

          9  accounts, which would have the most significant and

         10  potentially negative impact on the people who rely

         11  the most heavily on Social Security as their only or

         12  main economic resource.

         13                 Though Social Security continues to

         14  discriminate against partners of LGBT beneficiaries,

         15  Social Security remains a crucial and constant,

         16  consistent element in support of us. Privatization

         17  would jeopardize this support without remedying the

         18  inequities of the system.

         19                 We live in a country where all of our

         20  survival is based on our ability to work.

         21  Recognizing this, Social Security as a system, was

         22  created to maintain the most vulnerable people in

         23  this country if they were unable to do that, or if

         24  they died as workers and left vulnerable family

         25  members who were dependent on their salaries to
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          2  survive.  Or they were disabled.

          3                 Social Security is the single most

          4  successful program this country has ever created.

          5  It asks everyone in this nation to join together to

          6  care and sustain the most vulnerable among us.  Old

          7  people, disabled people, and the children and

          8  families whose heads of households have been killed

          9  or disabled on the job.

         10                 President Bush's plan for

         11  privatization is dangerous for everyone in this

         12  country.  The currently old, the soon to be old

         13  demographic made up of Baby Boomers, including LGBT

         14  Stonewall generations who will soon be the latest

         15  generation of elders in this country.  And dangerous

         16  to today's young people, who will find nothing to

         17  rely on when they too face their own inevitable old

         18  age.

         19                 Resolution 832 is clear in its

         20  purpose.  It asserts the profound dangers inherent

         21  in President Bush's plan to privatize Social

         22  Security.  It recognizes that the so called crisis

         23  of Social Security insolvency that President Bush

         24  has manufactured and is using to generate fear and

         25  panic, is a false and fabricated emergency, like the

                                                            85

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  false and fictitious crises he has created

          3  concerning gay marriage.  The Task Force supports

          4  and applauds Resolution 832 because it categorically

          5  refuses to go along with this ruse.

          6                 So we want to thank all of the City

          7  Council members who have created this resolution and

          8  will be voting in favor of it. And all the people at

          9  this hearing, who, like the Task Force, have come

         10  here to state clearly why it's so important that our

         11  objections to the proposed privatization of Social

         12  Security be heard.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         14  Amber.

         15                 I want to thank all of you for being

         16  here today.

         17                 There being no questions, I do want

         18  to thank you for your time and testimony.

         19                 832A has had its first hearing today.

         20    It's a positive first step.  It has brought many

         21  of us together on this issue, as you speak out and

         22  unified voice for this dismantling of the system.

         23  And just by the testimony given today, we have

         24  showed that the Social Security affects many, many

         25  disabled seniors, men, women, children, lesbians,
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          2  gays, bisexual, transgenders of all races and

          3  religion.  People living everywhere.

          4                 So obviously, this issue, this one

          5  single issue of Social Security, and its future,

          6  affects millions.  And again, the fact that it's a

          7  Federal issue is good that it's here at the City

          8  Council, in front of the Civil Service and Labor

          9  Committee brought forth by Council Member James,

         10  because it affects City workers, it affects City

         11  residents.  And that's why it's here today.

         12                 So we appreciate your time here

         13  today.  It's time well spent.  And we look forward

         14  to the future of Reso. 832A.

         15                 I want to thank Council Member James

         16  for introducing it to the City Council.  I'm sure

         17  you can give it a round of applause.  She deserves

         18  it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Also, just to

         20  add this and to thank you for this.  If this passes,

         21  if this happens, it will be on your plates, because

         22  there will be no Federal program that manages all

         23  the kind of vulnerability.  It will end up here.

         24  And that will mean that it will be the cities and

         25  the states who will become responsible.  That's why
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          2  it's so important for you to be speaking out around

          3  Resolution 832.  And we thank you for that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Yes, we thank

          5  you.  We are hopeful that other cities across the

          6  country speak out.  Other advocacy groups, other

          7  local councils, speak out against this issue,

          8  because it is, again, an issue that affects

          9  millions.

         10                 Thank you all for your time and

         11  testimony today. Have a great day.

         12                 This Civil Service and Labor

         13  Committee is adjourned.

         14                 (Hearing adjourned at 3:00 p.m.)

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            88

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LENORE NAGLE, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 12th day of May 2005.

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          LENORE NAGLE

                                                            89

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, LENORE NAGLE, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              LENORE NAGLE

         23

         24

         25

